Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-31-2022 Page 1 of 34

FILED 01-31-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2021AP001937 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent

vs.

JOSE A. AREVALO-VIERA Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH R. WALL PRESIDING.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

ZALESKI LAW FIRM Steven W. Zaleski State Bar No. 1034597 10 E. Doty St., Ste. 800 Madison, WI 53703 608-441-5199 (Telephone) Zaleski@Ticon.net Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

##

ISSUES PRESENTED.
POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF CASE
STATEMENT OF FACTS.
ARGUMENT16
I. The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in granting the State's motion to admit other acts evidence
A. Standard of review and applicable law16
B. The circuit court erred in determining that the other acts evidence was relevant, and that the probative value of the evidence substantially outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice17
C. Even upon independent review by this court, the record does not provide an appropriate basis for the circuit court's decision
II. The judgment of conviction erroneously reflects the sentence imposed by the circuit court as to Count 7, armed robbery
CONCLUSION29
CERTIFICATIONS31
APPENDIX

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-31-2022 Page 3 of 34

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases State v. Pymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992)
State v. Clark, 179 Wis.2d 484, 507 N.W.2d 172 (1993)
State v. Dorsey, 2018 WI 10, 379 Wis.2d 386, 906 N.W.2d 15816
State v. Whitty, 34 Wis.2d 278, 149 N.W.2d 557 (1967)17
State v. Payano, 2009 WI 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 768 N.W.2d 83220
State v. Barreau, 2002 WI App 198, 257 Wis.2d 203, 651 N.W.2d 1220
State v. Marinez, 2011 WI 12, 331 Wis.2d 568, 797 N.W.2d 39925
State v. Kuntz, 160 Wis.2d 722, 467 N.W.2d 531 (1991)26
State v. Cofield, 2000 WI App 196, 238 Wis.2d 467, 618 N.W.2d 214
Wynn V. State, 718 A.2d 588 (1998)
State v. Perry, 136 Wis.2d 92, 401 N.W.2d 748 (1987)29
Constitution/statutes/other
Wis. Stat. §904.04(2)
Wis. Stat. §904.0317

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-31-2022 Page 4 of 34

### ISSUES PRESENTED

Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion in allowing the State to introduce other acts evidence against Arevalo-Viera?

Does the judgment of conviction and sentence erroneously reflect the sentence imposed by the circuit court as to Count 7 of the information, armed robbery?

### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Counsel does not request oral argument. Counsel believes that publication will not be warranted as this appeal involves the application of well-established law to a specific set of facts.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Arevalo-Viera with the following offenses:

Count 1: First Degree Sexual Assault (Forcibly Aiding And Abetting);

Count 2: Kidnapping (Carries Forcibly)-As A Party To A Crime;

Count 3: First Degree Sexual Assault (Forcibly Aiding And Abetting);

Count 4: First Degree Sexual Assault (Forcibly Aiding And Abetting);

Count 5: First Degree Sexual Assault (Forcibly Aiding And Abetting);

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-31-2022 Page 5 of 34

Count 6: First Degree Sexual Assault (Forcibly Aiding And Abetting);<sup>1</sup>

Count 7: Armed Robbery As A Party To A Crime. Ap.6-8.2

The criminal complaint alleged in relevant part as follows: during the early morning hours of June 16, 2017, M.J.D. was driving in her vehicle on Interstate 94 in the City of Milwaukee when she exited the freeway at the Van Buren/Jackson exit. Ap.1. M.J.D. was stopped at the intersection of Clybourn and Jackson when an individual, identified in the complaint as Suspect 1, approached her front passenger door with a hammer. Ap.1-2. M.J.D. "took off" while Suspect 1 struggled to get into her vehicle. Ap.2. Despite M.J.D.'s efforts, Suspect 1 was able to get inside her vehicle and displayed a box cutter. Ap.2. Suspect 1 also said that he had a hammer. Ap.2. Suspect 1 ordered M.J.D. to drive to Chicago. Ap.2. A second individual, Suspect 2, followed behind M.J.D.'s vehicle in a pickup truck. Ap.2. As they were nearing General Mitchell Airport, Suspect 1 ordered M.J.D. to pullover on the freeway. Ap.2. Suspect 2, who was still following them in the pickup truck, also pulled over. Ap.2. Suspect 2 approached the vehicle and talked with Suspect 1 about the need to "get out of state." Ap.2. Suspect 1 directed

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As to Counts 1,3,4,5 and 6, the circuit court at trial instructed the jury as to Second Degree Sexual Assault as a lesser included offense. 76:9-10. The jury found Arevalo-Viera guilty of such offense on Count 3. 83:13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Third Amended Information. 32:1-3, Ap.6-8.

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-31-2022 Page 6 of 34

M.J.D. again to drive to Chicago. Ap.2. Suspect 1 became "handsy" with M.J.D. and fondled her breasts. Ap.2. Near the 27th Street exit of Interstate 94, Suspect 1 again ordered M.J.D. to pull over. Ap.2. Suspect 1 told M.J.D. that if she wanted to live, she would listen to what he had to say. Ap.2. Suspect 1 ordered M.J.D. to get her purse and her dog, and get out of the vehicle. Ap.2. Suspect 1 pulled M.J.D. through the passenger window. Ap.2. Suspect 1 then got into the back seat of the pickup truck, and ordered M.J.D. to do so as well. Ap.2. Suspect 1 at that point displayed a 3 inch knife. Ap.2. While in the backseat of the pickup, Suspect 1 grabbed M.J.D.'s breasts and crotch area. Ap.3. Suspect 1 put his hand inside M.J.D.'s pants and forced his finger inside M.J.D.'s vagina. Ap.3. As Suspect 1 and Suspect 2 were "bickering back and forth," Suspect 1 told Suspect 2, to "get the gun," "I'm going to shoot her." Ap.3. Suspect 1 ordered M.J.D. to remove her clothing, and she refused. Ap.3. Suspect 1 punched M.J.D., and became more aggressive. Ap.3. Suspect 1 started counting down, "10, 9, 8...." Ap.3. M.J.D. removed all of her clothing. Ap.3. After "futzing" with what M.J.D. believed was a condom, Suspect 1 "got on top of her, inserted his penis into her vagina, and forced sexual intercourse." Ap.3. M.J.D. was yelling as loud as she could. Ap.3. Suspect 2 drove the pickup truck and turned up the music as M.J.D. was yelling. Ap.3. When it seemed to M.J.D. that they were "done" with her, Suspect 2 came to a stop, and M.J.D. was allowed to leave and take her dog.

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-31-2022 Page 7 of 34

Ap.3. Suspect 1 ordered M.J.D. to leave her purse, and threatened to kill M.J.D. "if she went to the police." Ap.3. After the pickup truck pulled away, M.J.D walked to several houses to seek help. Ap.3. M.J.D. ultimately ended up at the "U-line" truck stop in Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin, where a truck driver allowed her to use his cell phone to call 911." Ap.3. Arevalo-Viera was later identified as Suspect 1. Ap.3-5.

The case proceeded to a seven day trial during which the jury found Arevalo-Viera guilty on all counts. 83:12-13. At sentencing, the circuit court imposed the following sentences:

Count 1: 40 years initial confinement, 20 years extended supervision; Count 2: 20 years initial confinement, 15 years extended supervision; Count 3: 10 years initial confinement, 10 years extended supervision; Count 4: 40 years initial confinement, 20 years extended supervision; Count 5: 40 years initial confinement, 20 years extended supervision; Count 6: 40 years initial confinement, 20 years extended supervision; Count 7: 5 years initial confinement, 5 years extended supervision.

55:56-58.3

The circuit court made Counts 1, 3, 4, 5, and 6 concurrent to each other, but consecutive to Counts 2 and 7. 55:57-58. The circuit court made Count 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As discussed later in this brief, the judgment of conviction erroneously reflects a sentence of 40 years initial confinement/20 years extended supervision on Count 7. Ap.10.

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-31-2022 Page 8 of 34

consecutive to Count 2. 55:58. The sentences contemplated a 65 year period of initial confinement and a 40 year period of extended supervision. 55:58. Arevalo-Viera timely filed a notice of intent to pursue posconviction relief, 52:1-2, pursuant to which the State Public Defender appointed the undersigned counsel to represent Arevalo-Viera on postconviction matters. By and through counsel, Arevalo-Viera filed a notice of appeal, 200:1, and these proceedings follow.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Facts pertaining to State's motion to admit other acts evidence.

Prior to trial, the State filed a motion seeking to admit evidence of conduct that allegedly occurred between Arevalo-Viera and another woman, K.A., in Kenosha County "hours" before the alleged conduct with M.J.D. 23:2-3, Ap.12-17. The State proffered the following information in its motion:

Hours earlier, KA was leaving Buffalo Wild wings in Kenosha County when a dark-colored pickup truck began to follow her car. The pickup truck was following KA's car extremely closely. When both cars were stopped at a light, the driver of the pickup truck exited the car, approached KA's car, and knocked on the window. KA refused, and told the subject she was calling the police. The subject returned to his pickup truck and pulled a gun from the bed of the pickup truck. Fearing for her safety, KA sped away.

The subject with the gun returned to the pickup truck and followed KA. The pickup truck again pulled next to KA. This time, a Hispanic male with a mask covering his face exited the passenger side of the pickup truck with a baseball bat. KA immediately sped off again, made it home, and called Kenosha police. KA was able to positively identify the above Defendant as one of the individuals inside the pickup truck that followed her on July 16, 2017.

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-31-2022 Page 9 of 34

23:2-3, Ap.13-14.

The State offered the other acts evidence for the purpose of identity. In particular, the State asserted that '[t]he method of operation is so unique as to each offense as to carry the Defendant's "signature," and thus identify the Defendant as the perpetrator.' 23:3-4, Ap.14-15. The State also asserted that the evidence would serve to demonstrate motive, intent, and absence of mistake should Arevalo-Viera claim that his actions with M.J.D. were consensual. See 23:4, Ap.15.

Hearing on State's motion to admit other acts evidence.

At the hearing on the State's motion, trial counsel disagreed "that there is in fact a unique method of operation," and argued that "the incidents are quite different." 79:10. Trial counsel additionally argued that the admission of such evidence would cause extreme unfair prejudice which would outweigh the probative value of the evidence. 79:10.

In beginning its analysis, the circuit court referenced the three prong test under *State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis.2d 768, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998). 79:11, Ap.21.

First, the circuit court determined that the State offered the evidence for a proper purpose. 79:11, Ap.21. In this regard, the circuit court determined that the State properly offered the evidence for the purpose of demonstrating method of operation, identity, or motive. 79:11, Ap.21. The circuit court next

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-31-2022 Page 10 of 34

determined that the evidence was relevant. 79:12, Ap.22. In this regard, the circuit court determined that it "relate[d] to a fact or proposition that is of consequence of the determination of the action," specifically, the identification of Arevalo-Viera, 79:12, Ap.22. The circuit court additionally determined that given that alleged incident with K.A. was "very, very similar and within hours of the charged conduct," it had probative value. 79:13, Ap.23. Finally, the circuit court considered whether the "prejudicial impact of that testimony substantially outweighs the relevance" of the evidence. 79:15, Ap.25. In this regard, the circuit court determined as follows:

Here, there is nothing unusual about the other acts evidence. There's nothing that would, outside of its relevance, shock the conscience of a jury or cause them to make a decision based on outrage or cause any sort of confusion. It is prejudicial, of course, and the way to deal with that is through the trial procedure as well as jury instructions.

So what I would suggest, first of all, the drafting of the appropriate limine instruction, first of all, that the other act involving KM would be - -go towards the identity of the individual who allegedly attacked MD and to further caution the jury to give that instruction before the introduction of the KM evidence and of course at the end of the trial.<sup>4</sup>

But it's a bit conditional right now. As I say, I see that identity will probably be at play. And if it is, then this is admissible. It clearly passes the Sullivan test. And would be admissible with, as I say, the limine instructions. And it should not be mentioned in opening statement, again, because I think it's conditional upon how the defense plays out.

79:16, Ap.26.

At such point in the hearing, trial counsel pointed out that identity was not going to be an issue, because Arevalo-Viera was not denying that he was in the car with M.J.D. 79:16, Ap.26.

 $^4$  The court used the initials KM instead of KA as used by the State in its motion .

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-31-2022 Page 11 of 34

The State responded by arguing that irrespective of whether Arevalo-Viera was contesting the issue of identity, the State could still offer evidence for that purpose. 79:17, Ap.27. In support of such position, the State cited *State v. Pymesser*, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992) and *State v. Clark*, 179 Wis.2d 484, 507 N.W.2d 172 (1993). 79:18-19, Ap.28-29. The State additionally argued that if the defense were to claim that the encounter with M.J.D. was consensual, the evidence would be "extraordinarily relevant to demonstrate the absence of mistake on the part of MD that this was a violent assault and it wasn't as the defense claims." 79:18, Ap.28.

In further considering the other acts evidence in light of Arevalo-Viera's proffer that he would not be contesting identity, and the State's reply, the circuit court stated in relevant part as follows:

THE COURT: Well, yeah. And I agree as to the second part. That's kind of where I was heading. But thank you for that. Again, that the - - the absence of mistake. But you know, the intent and the method of his operation here. I think all comports with the very same analysis that I talked about.

79:18, Ap.28.

The court additionally stated as follows:

THE COURT: Okay. Well, as we calm things down at trial, we will see what the most appropriate avenues are. As I say, the preliminary instructions on those and give those to the jury. But I do find - I will take a look at *Clark*, but I - with identity being less relevant with Ms. Kuehn's proffer here, the other proffered avenues I think come more to the forefront of the analysis.

- --

THE COURT: ....I was saying that the analysis is the same and the - - again, there is prejudice, but it's - - that can be handled with cautionary instructions and under the

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-31-2022 Page 12 of 34

mode that I spoke about here not going into opening statement but rather as the issues arise and using the cautionary instructions before the evidence as well as at the end. Prejudice versus relevance analysis is the same, and I find that all these avenues pass that test.

79:21, Ap.31.

Other acts testimony at trial.

At trial, the State introduced testimony from two witnesses regarding the other acts evidence, K.T. 72:94, and S.J., 72:115.<sup>5</sup>

K.T.'s testimony

On June 15, 2017, K.T. went to BW3s in Kenosha to have dinner with some friends. 72:95. Her friend, S.J., was in the car with her. 72:95. K.T. went to the restaurant around 9:30 or 9:45 and left around 11:00. 72:95. As K.T. and S.J. were leaving the parking lot, a truck pulled up behind them and began following them "really close." 72:97. K.T. thought that "maybe they were just annoyed that (she) was going too slow." 72:97. After coming to a stop sign and turning right, the truck continued to follow. 72:97. K.T. then thought "maybe it was somebody (she) knew that recognized (her) car." 72:97. As K.T. pulled up to another stop sign, the truck was in the right hand lane. 72:98. K.T. rolled down the passenger window to see if it was somebody she knew. 72:98. "They didn't roll down their window or anything." 72:98. At that point, K.T. thought, "that's weird," and kept driving. 72:98. The truck got out of the right lane and began

<sup>5</sup>The State's motion uses the initials K.A. whereas the trial testimony references the witness as K.T.

9

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-31-2022 Page 13 of 34

following K.T. again. 72:98. K.T. sped up and the truck sped up too. 72:98. K.T. was going 55 to 60 miles per hour in a 40 mile per hour zone in order to get away from the truck. 72:99. The truck kept pace with K.T., and remained so close behind her that she could barely see the truck's headlights. 72:99.

K.T. tried to turn into the neighborhood before her own in order to see if the truck was following her, or if it was just mad that she was driving too slow. 72:100. As K.T. tried to make a right hand turn, the truck drove off the road onto the grass, and almost sideswiped her car. 72:100.

At the next light, K.T. slammed on her brakes in order to let the truck go around her. 72:100. The truck ended up pulling up in the lane next to her on the wrong side of the road, and stopped. 72:100.

K.T. sped up again trying to get away, and turned into her own neighborhood. 72:100. The truck followed her, and cut through a yard. 72:100. K.T. pulled over because she did not know what was going on, and she was angry. 72:101.

The driver from the truck got out and was knocking on her window, and telling her to roll down her window. 72:101,103. The person was telling her that he had to ask her something. 72:101. K.T. did not roll down her window. 72:101. At first, K.T. was not scared, but at some point, she did become scared. 72:101. The person kept knocking on her window, and asking her to roll it down. 72:101. K.T. held up her cell phone and said, "I don't care. I will call 9-1-

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-31-2022 Page 14 of 34

1. Go away." 72:102. The person said, "No, don't do that." 72:102. He then walked to the back of his truck, and pulled something out of it. 72:102.

At the time, K.T. did not know what the person retrieved. 72:102. It was just a long object. 72:102. As soon as K.T. saw that the person was grabbing something from the back of the truck, she immediately assumed it was a "gun or something," and sped off. 72:102. K.T. did not know for sure what it was. 72:103.

The truck started following K.T. again. 72:102. K.T. tried to move over, and let the truck pass, but it pulled over next to her. 72:102. The passenger of the truck got out with a mask on and a baseball bat. 72:102. The mask was "like a ski mask," and the bat was aluminum. 72:103. As soon as K.T. saw the person opening his door, she "took off," and dialed 911. 72:104.6 K.T. was terrified because she "didn't know what was going on." 72:104.

K.T. pulled over in her neighborhood, and kept going around the block. 72:105. She did not know what to do. 72:105. Eventually, K.T. took a turn that the truck could not keep up with, and she ended up getting away. 72:105. In order to get away, K.T. was driving fast through her neighborhood, "easily 40,45," so fast she was scared her car would flip on the turns. 79:105.

<sup>6</sup> The State played and introduced a recording of the 911 call. 79:96,107; 204:1 (trial Exhibit 43).

11

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-31-2022 Page 15 of 34

At some point later, officers brought K.T. a photo array in order to identify the driver of the truck. 72:105. K.T. picked out a person but did not know the person's name. 72:106. K.T. wrote down that she was 90% sure. 72:106.

K.T. identified Arevalo-Viera in court as the person who knocked on her window, and who was the driver of the pickup truck. 72:107.

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