Filed 04-15-2022

Page 1 of 35

FILED 04-15-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2021AP1937-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOSE A. AREVALO-VIERA,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONRABLE JOSEPH R. WALL, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KIERAN M. O'DAY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1113772

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2065 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) odaykm@doj.state.wi.us

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

Because the other-acts evidence was highly probative, would not shock the conscience of the jury, and the jury was instructed three times to use it for only permissible purposes, the evidence passes *Sullivan*'s third prong.

\*\*\*

At bottom, these evidentiary decisions were "quintessential judgement call[s] of the type we rely on circuit courts to make every day." *State v. Johnson*, 2021 WI 61, ¶ 36, 397 Wis. 2d 633, 961 N.W.2d 18. Arevalo-Viera simply disagrees with how the circuit court weighed the evidence under the *Sullivan* test. But disagreement with how much weight the court gave to the evidence's probative value or how it assessed the relative danger of unfair prejudice is not a basis for reversal. *Gutierrez*, 391 Wis. 2d 799, ¶ 27; *Johnson*, 397 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 36.

Because the record reveals that the circuit court properly exercised its discretion, this Court should affirm.

## C. Even if the circuit court erred in admitting the other-acts evidence, any error was harmless.

If this Court concludes that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion, it should also conclude that any error was harmless. "The erroneous exclusion [or admission] of testimony is subject to the harmless error rule." *State v. Hunt*, 2014 WI 102, ¶ 26, 360 Wis. 2d 576, 851 N.W.2d 434. An "error is harmless if it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-15-2022 Page 27 of 35

guilty absent the error." Id. (citation omitted). It is the burden of the party benefiting from the error to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the "error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." Id. (citation omitted). "In determining whether an error is harmless, [this Court] weigh[s] the effect of the trial court's error against the totality of the credible evidence supporting the verdict."  $State\ v$ . Beamon, 2011 WI App 131, ¶ 7, 336 Wis. 2d 438, 804 N.W.2d 706.

Reviewing courts utilize "several non-exclusive factors to aid [in the] application of the harmless error rule in the evidentiary context."  $State\ v.\ Monahan$ , 2018 WI 80, ¶ 35, 383 Wis. 2d 100, 913 N.W.2d 894. Those factors include, for example "the frequency of the error; . . . the importance of the erroneously included or excluded evidence to the prosecution's or defense's case; . . . [and] the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the erroneously included or excluded evidence." Id. Courts also consider "whether erroneously excluded evidence merely duplicates untainted evidence; . . . the nature of the defense; . . . the nature of the State's case; and . . . the overall strength of the State's case." Id.

Here, the State had overwhelming evidence of Arevalo-Viera's guilt, including detailed testimony from MJD about the kidnapping and assault, consistent testimony from several other witnesses to whom she described the incident, DNA evidence, video evidence, photographic evidence, and cell phone tracking evidence. In short, there is no possibility a rational jury could have found him not guilty without the other-acts evidence.

MJD provided vivid, detailed, and thorough testimony about the incident. She described to the jury that she left work around 1:10 a.m. on June 16. (R. 69:90.) She went to her boyfriend's house to pick up some belongings and their dog, Mac. (R. 69:90–91.) She detailed that while she was on the

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-15-2022 Page 28 of 35

way to the police administration building, she got off on the wrong exit. (R. 75:6–7.) She noticed a truck follow her off of the freeway, turn the opposite direction, but then end up next to her at a red light. (R. 75:8–10.) The jury learned that MJD saw a man, later identified as Arevalo-Viera, approach and then began hitting the window with a hammer. (R. 75:10–11.) She immediately attempted to roll the windows up, but Arevalo-Viera climbed into her car through the window. (R. 75:11.) She began screaming for Arevalo-Viera to get out of her car. (R. 75:12.) Arevalo-Viera sat down and directed her to drive toward the Chicago exit; he also pushed her leg to put pressure on the accelerator. (R. 75:13–14.) She noticed the gray truck began to follow her as she was driving. (R. 75:14.)

The jury learned that while MJD was driving south toward Chicago, she offered Arevalo-Viera her purse, her car, and whatever else she had, hoping he would accept and leave her alone. (R. 75:16–17.) MJD testified that irritated Arevalo-Viera and he told her to shut up and took her cell phone. (R. 75:17.) Arevalo-Viera, after rummaging through MJD's car, pulled out a boxcutter, and asked MJD if she wanted to live. (R. 75:18–19.) When she said yes, he said "[g]ood" and began caressing her face. (R. 75:19.) MJD testified that while Arevalo-Viera was still holding the boxcutter to her neck, he began rubbing her thighs and grabbing her breasts. (R. 75:19–20.)

She testified that Arevalo-Viera gestured to the truck and instructed her to pull over. (R. 75:24–25.) When they pulled over near the College Avenue exit, Arevalo-Viera pulled her across the passenger's seat and was holding her in place by her wrists, while he and his counterpart talked. (R. 75:27–29.) Arevalo-Viera rubbed MJD's thighs and breasts again when she began driving again and told her to do what he said if she wanted to live. (R. 75:31.)

They eventually pulled over again near the Seven Mile Road exit in a dark area of the freeway. (R. 75:32–34.)

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-15-2022 Page 29 of 35

Arevalo-Viera pulled MJD out of the passenger's side of the car, MJD grabbed Mac from the backseat, and Arevalo-Viera pulled them both toward the truck, which was parked behind MJD's car. (R. 75:34–35.) Arevalo-Viera told MJD to get in the car, but she refused, so he pushed her into the truck. (R. 75:35–36.) She testified that they began driving south again. (R. 75:37.)

Eventually, Arevalo-Viera told MJD to lay down; he straddled her and began touching her breasts again. (R. 75:38–40.) He also began rubbing her vagina over her clothes. (R. 75:39–40.) MJD tried kicking Arevalo-Viera off of her and told him to stop. (R. 75:40.) She testified that this irritated Arevalo-Viera, and he began hitting her. (R. 75:40–41.) She testified to three strikes—the first felt more like an open hand slap, the second missed, and the third felt like a closed fist punch. (R. 75:41.)

Arevalo-Viera eventually got off of MJD, but he then told her again that if she wanted to live to do what he said. (R. 75:41, 43.) He then directed her to take off her clothes. (R. 75:43.) When she refused, he threatened to kill Mac and began counting down. (R. 75:53–54.) MJD took her clothes off but said "don't touch me" and sat in a ball trying to cover herself. (R. 75:43, 46.) Instead, Arevalo-Viera began touching her inner thighs and breasts again—he also told her to lay down. (R. 75:46.) MJD laid on her side at first, but Arevalo-Viera rolled her onto her back and then rubbed her vagina and grabbed her breasts. (R. 75:47.) MJD closed her legs and crossed them, but Arevalo-Viera pried her legs open. (R. 75:47.)

MJD testified that when Arevalo-Viera pried her legs open he touched her vagina again and she thought it sounded like he began taking his clothes off. (R. 75:47–48.) She testified that Arevalo-Viera also reached toward the glove compartment, and MJD hoped that he was reaching for a box of condoms. (R. 75:48–49.)

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-15-2022 Page 30 of 35

MJD testified that Arevalo-Viera then put his fingers in her vagina and then eventually put his penis in her vagina. (R. 75:49–50.) She testified that she was screaming "[n]o" and yelling "as loud as I could" telling him to stop. (R. 75:49–51.)

She testified that Arevalo-Viera eventually stopped assaulting her, told her to get dressed, and told her to lay back down. (R. 75:52, 55.) MJD testified that the driver continued on the freeway for approximately five more minutes until the truck stopped. (R. 75:56.) Arevalo-Viera then opened the door and told MJD to get out. (R. 75:58.) Before leaving the area, Arevalo-Viera told MJD, "Don't call the cops. Don't call the police because I have your ID and your phone." (R. 75:59.)

MJD testified that she was "scared they were going to turn around," so her and Mac hid in a ditch "until [she] couldn't see the truck." (R. 75:61.) MJD testified that she began "running down the street to any intersection [she] could find." (R. 75:61.) She saw two houses and knocked on each house's door attempting to get help, but no one responded. (R. 75:62.) MJD testified that across the street she saw a guard tower and ran toward it. (R. 75:62.) She "continued to run . . . into the light [of the parking lot] hoping someone would like see [her]." (R. 75:62.) She testified that she eventually encountered a truck driver who let her use his cell phone after she told him what happened. (R. 75:63.) She first called her boyfriend who told her to call 911. (R. 75:63–65.)

MJD's testimony was bolstered by consistent testimony from her boyfriend who testified that MJD was supposed to come see him at the police administration building when she got off of work. (R. 82:11.) He testified that he asked MJD to pick up items from his house, and he testified that MJD was bringing Mac along as well. (R. 82:11–12.) He testified that MJD last texted him just before two in the morning, and that when she did not arrive at his office, he began texting and calling her. (R. 82:14–15.) He testified he did not hear from MJD again until she called him after Arevalo-Viera let her go.

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-15-2022 Page 31 of 35

(R. 82:15.) He testified that when MJD called him she sounded "upset" and that she was "speaking quickly [and] had an elevated pitch." (R. 82:15–16.) He testified that MJD told him she had just been carjacked and raped. (R. 82:16.) Finally, he testified that when he saw MJD at the hospital he saw "scratches on her neck, her face was puffy and swollen with some discoloration." (R. 82:19.)

The jury also heard testimony from the truck driver who let MJD use his phone. (R. 82:48–56.) He testified that MJD "waived [him] down," and she told him that "she was kidnapped, and sexually assaulted and dropped off down the street." (R. 82:49.) He testified that she seemed "confused and shocked." (R. 82:50.) He also testified that it "[l]ooked like she had two black eyes and something on her nose and a busted up . . . lip." (R. 82:50.) After hearing from the truck driver, the jury heard from the Uline security guard who encountered MJD that night. He testified that MJD "was crying pretty hard." (R. 82:58.) He testified that MJD told him she was "carjacked and beat up" and that MJD "was crying harder than [he] ever seen a woman cry before." (R. 82:59.)

The jury learned from Detective Andrea Brey that, when she responded to Uline, she saw MJD crying. (R. 82:63.) She also testified that she observed that MJD's "makeup was smeared, her mascara was running. She had puffy eyes, she had a swollen eye." (R. 82:63.) Detective Brey testified that MJD's eye "was even starting to turn purple from a bruise." (R. 82:63.) She testified that MJD told her that "she was up in Milwaukee [and] that someone forced their way into her vehicle. [A]t some point she was forced out of her car and into another vehicle and sexually assaulted before being dropped off in our vicinity at Uline." (R. 82:65.) Detective Brey testified that after she learned that MJD was sexually assaulted she "immediately transported her to the local hospital" to get a SANE exam. (R. 82:66.) Detective Brey testified to the more

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-15-2022 Page 32 of 35

detailed report that MJD gave her at the hospital—that report also matched MJD's testimony. (R. 82:69–75.)

The jury learned from the SANE nurse (Nurse Rodriguez) that MJD described the assailant as a "Hispanic male with a chin strap beard, bushy eyebrows, tattoo on right arm, half mask, skinny, and short." (R. 72:66.) MJD described that Arevalo-Viera's "mere presence was controlling." (R. 72:67.) She told the nurse that "he intimidated her verbally, threatened her by saying he would kill her. That he was grabbing her by her head, arm, and shirt. Used his body to hold her down. That there was a presence of a weapon . . . and he said that he had a gun." (R. 72:67.) MJD also told Nurse Rodriguez that Arevalo-Viera "hit her with a closed fist and an open hand to her face." (R. 72:67.)

Nurse Rodriguez also read her report to the jury, which included MJD's recounting of the assault—MJD's report to Nurse Rodriguez was consistent with her testimony and her report to the police. (R. 72:79–80.) Nurse Rodriguez testified that she observed and documented MJD's injuries; those injuries were also consistent with MJD's testimony. (R. 72:75–78, 80–81.) Nurse Rodriguez observed the cuts on the back of her neck from the boxcutter, the swelling and bruising around her eyes, the swelling and redness on her cheek, "[r]ed marks to the upper portion of her chest and both of her breasts above the nipples . . . . [b]ruising and redness to the inner part of her right arm . . . bruising to the medial aspect of the thighs, the inner part of the legs," and redness to the labia minora "consistent with a finger being put in the vagina [and] consistent with a penis being forced into a vagina." (R. 72:71, 74, 81.) Nurse Rodriguez testified that the bruising to MJD's inner thighs was "consistent with someone forcibly grabbing her thighs," and she called the marks "a prying injury, a prying apart of the legs injury." (R. 72:81.) Nurse Rodriguez testified that pry marks are inconsistent with consent because "someone having to use pressure to open your legs does not seem like consent." (R. 72:91.)

Importantly, the jury also learned that Arevalo-Viera's DNA was found on MJD's samples submitted to the state crime lab. Arevalo-Viera's DNA was found on the neckline of MJD's sweatshirt. (R. 71:83–84.) Additionally, a Y-STR profile consistent with Arevalo-Viera's was found on the crotch of MJD's underwear, and in MJD's cervical, vaginal, external genital, and mons pubis samples. (R. 71:87–91.) That DNA testimony supported the State's argument and undercut Arevalo-Viera's testimony denying any sexual contact or assault.

The jury also saw photos of MJD's injuries, (R. 72:75–78), saw surveillance footage showing the cars at the locations that MJD described, (R. 71:128–38), heard MJD's 911 call, (R. 75:66), heard testimony that the tracking information from MJD's and Arevalo-Viera's cell phones matched the carjacking/kidnapping/sexual assault, (R. 71:10), and learned that MJD's credit card, which was with her other belongings in Arevalo-Viera's car, was used in Illinois and Kentucky, (R. 75:89–90).

All of this evidence, considered together, completely undermined Arevalo-Viera's implausible story of a consensual roadside encounter whereby MJD invited him into her car while idling at a stoplight and then began hitting him for no apparent reason later in the interaction. The DNA evidence and evidence of MJD's physical injuries conclusively showed that Arevalo-Viera's denials of a forced sexual encounter were incredible.

In sum, the State had overwhelming evidence against Arevalo-Viera, and the jury would not have had a reasonable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In addition to the exhibits that were published to the jury, it requested and received all pictures during deliberation. (R. 83:5.)

Case 2021AP001937 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-15-2022 Page 34 of 35

doubt as to Arevalo-Viera's guilt without the other-acts evidence. Therefore, any erroneous admission of the other-acts evidence was harmless; this Court should affirm.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons this Court should affirm Arevalo-Viera's judgment of conviction.